
1 
 

Village of Geneseo         July 25, 2012 
Planning Board        Regular Meeting  
 
Members Present:   Other Village Representatives Present: 
David Woods, Chair    Code Enforcement Officer Ron Maxwell – arrived at 4:34PM 
Dori Farthing        
Matt Griffo        
Susan Richardson       
 
Applicants Present: 
Pat Cole, Cole Real Estate, representing Calm Dental – 109 Main Street 
Bruce Seeber, Alpha Graphics, representing Calm Dental – 109 Main Street 
Heather Caroccio, PreK – 207 Lima Road 
Charlie Caroccio, Father-In-Law, PreK – 207 Lima Road 
Michael Duke, CyclePath – 79 Main Street 
Hang Nguyen, Glo Salon & Spa – 2 Ryan Drive, Suite 1 
 
1.  Meeting Opened: 
 Chair Woods opened the meeting at 4:30pm. 
 
2.  Review of Minutes: 
 The June 27, 2012 meeting minutes were reviewed.  M. Griffo moved to approve the minutes as 
presented.  S. Richardson seconded the motion.  The motion passed with ayes from D. Woods,  
M. Griffo and S. Richardson.  D. Farthing abstained as she was not present at the June 27, 2012 
meeting.   
 
3.  Town Planning Board Update – David Woods: 
 D. Woods stated that the Town Planning Board met on Monday, July 9, 2012.  Richard Gray 
was on the agenda for the Gray Family Partnership Subdivision on Stonehouse Drive.  D. Woods 
explained that there is six acres of land on Stonehouse Drive with twenty-two residential structures.  
The land is leased but the structures are owned by their residents.  The Gray Family would like to 
subdivide these six acres into twenty-two individual lots and offer the lots for sale first to the residents 
that lease the property their houses are located on.  Concept approval was granted by the Town 
Planning Board, but a Homeowner’s Association will need to be created because Stonehouse Drive is 
considered a private drive.  The Town’s Engineer has voiced their concerns about water and sewer 
hookups to those residences that are not yet hooked up.  It was also noted that the proposed 
subdivision does not meet all Zoning Code requirements; therefore, a variance will be needed for 
substandard sized lots.   
 
4.  Calm Dental Sign – 109 Main Street: 
 Pat Cole, Cole Real Estate and Bruce Seeber, Alpha Graphics appeared before the Board on 
behalf of Calm Dental.  Mrs. Cole presented the Board with photos of the temporary sign as it is 
currently placed on the front of the building.  She continued by stating that Calm Dental occupies 
3100 square feet of the building but The Cuttery only occupies 400 square feet and Quinlan’s only 
occupies 900 square feet, therefore they feel as though they should be eligible for a larger sign and 
have applied for an area variance.  At this time, Mrs. Cole explained that they plan to move the 
CycleCraze sign to the right of The Cuttery’s window and place the approved Calm Dental sign 
centered above the opening entrance to the building.  She also stated that there are plans to remove 
the awning and put a piece of molding on the top of the building to make the front of the building look 
more appealing.   



2 
 

 Chair Woods stated that the Board is aware that the sign must go before the Zoning Board for 
size, but he is wondering if any thought has been given to reducing the size of the sign and removing 
the phone number from the sign.  Mr. Seeber, Alpha Graphics sign maker stated that he believes that 
leaving the phone number on the sign is very important especially since it is a new business.   
Mrs. Cole stated that since the sign is blocked by a tree, it is important to have it the size that is being 
requested.  Chair Woods asked if the office has opened for business.  Mrs. Cole stated that it just 
opened and currently they have a temporary banner on the building so patients can find them.   
Mr. Seeber continued by stating that the logo on the sign is also on their business cards.   
 Some discussion took place in regards to the exact size of the sign that they are requesting and 
Mr. Seeber stated that he did not think he was proposing a 6’ X 8’ or 48 square foot sign.  Mr. Seeber 
thought that the size that they are proposing is closer to the size of the banner, but he is not sure how 
large the banner is as he did not make or install that.   
 S. Richardson stated that she believes the sign should be more proportioned.  M. Griffo stated 
that he believes that the sign is a rather stark colored sign, noting that the Planning Board is looking 
for more earth tone colors similar to the CycleCraze sign.  Discussion continued regarding the color 
and shape of the sign.  D. Farthing suggested making the sign oval shaped, which she believed would 
cut down on the starkness and square footage.  It was also suggested that the background color be 
changed to perhaps a grey and a border be added around the edge of the sign.  Mr. Seeber stated that 
he would ask his client, but Mrs. Cole agreed that this might be a solution making it more balanced 
with the other signs on the building.     
 The Board discussed the possibility of the client making the sign dimensional instead of flat 
and applying for the Village’s sign grant.  Mr. Seeber stated that money is not an issue, but that his 
client just wants to have a permanent sign as soon as possible.   
 It was noted that the Planning Board could not make any decisions at this time because the 
sign does not meet code in regards to size.  Therefore, the Planning Board can either make a positive 
or negative recommendation to the Zoning Board of Appeals or not send any recommendation to the 
ZBA.    
 Therefore, M. Griffo moved to make a recommendation to the Zoning Board of Appeals that 
the Planning Board has agreed to an oval shaped sign no larger than 15 square feet in size to fit in the 
frame work of the front of the building.  D. Farthing seconded the motion and the motion passed with 
ayes from all.   
 
5.  Code Enforcement Office: 
 June 2012      
 Building Permits     10     
 Rental Housing     4     
 Sign Permits      5     
 Fire Inspections    41     
 Fire Works Permit      1 
 
6.  Livingston County Planning Board Update – David Matthews: 
 Chair Woods reported that David Matthews, the Village’s Livingston County Planning Board 
Representative had sent an email stating that there was nothing to report.   
 
7.  Heather Caroccio – Special Use Permit Request:  PreK – 207 Lima Road: 
 Heather Caroccio and her father-in-law Charlie Caroccio appeared before the Board for a 
Special Use Permit for a PreK at 207 Lima Road.  Mrs. Caroccio explained that she would like to add a 
room off of their garage for a classroom to teach three and four year olds.  She continued by stating 
that she used to teach in Oswego but then became a stay at home mom.  She does not want to go back 
to work but wants to use her teaching degree and combine both of her worlds.  The house sits back off 



3 
 

the road approximately six to seven hundred feet; therefore she does not believe she will be disturbing 
any of their neighbors.  At this time, Mrs. Caroccio presented the Board with four letters from four of 
the neighbors that are in support of the PreK she had went to and spoke to about her proposal.   
 The Board asked how many kids she planned to enroll in the PreK.  Mrs. Caroccio stated that 
she cannot take on more than eight students at one time and at this time plans on holding classes for 
the three year olds on Tuesdays and Thursdays from 9am – 11:30am and holding classes for the four 
year olds on Monday, Wednesday and Friday from 9am – 11:30am.   
 The Board asked if the proposed addition to the garage meets all setback requirements.  CEO 
Maxwell stated that it did.  The Board asked if there would be any additional staff.  Mrs. Caroccio 
stated that her mother may help her, but she would be volunteering and not paid.  Mrs. Caroccio 
commented that she loves teaching children, therefore does not see this as a lucrative business.  The 
Board asked if any fencing would be added.  Mrs. Caroccio stated that she is not planning any fencing 
at this time.  The Board asked if there would be toilets installed in the addition.  Mrs. Caroccio stated 
that the addition would be set up as a classroom with a bathroom.   
 It was noted that a PreK has recently opened in the Town and during their Special Use Permit 
review; the Town Planning Board was very much concerned about traffic.  Mrs. Caroccio did not feel 
as though traffic would be an issue at her residence because they have a very long driveway with a 
larger area to turn around.   
 The Board asked on what side of the garage the addition is being proposed for.  Mrs. Caroccio 
stated that it is proposed for the west side of the garage and would not be visible from Lima Road.   
 With no further discussion, M. Griffo moved to grant conceptual approval to Heather Caroccio 
for a Special Use Permit – Home Occupation:  PreK at 207 Lima Road and schedule the public 
hearing for Wednesday, August 22, 2012 at 4:45pm.  D. Farthing seconded the motion and the motion 
passed with ayes from all.    
 
8.  Glo Salon & Spa – 2 Ryan Drive, Suite #1: 
 Hang Nguyen, owner of Glo Salon & Spa appeared before the Board for a sign.  Glo Salon & Spa 
is a new business in an existing building.  CEO Maxwell noted that Ms. Nguyen is allowed up to a 50 
square foot sign, but is only requesting a 16 square foot sign on the front of the building.  However, 
she is allowed a second sign that does not exceed 34 square feet on the west side of the building facing 
Ryan Drive since she is located on a corner, which she is also requesting.  The Board asked if the sign 
is carved.  Ms. Nguyen stated that it is not.  The Board asked if the sign would be lit.  Ms. Nguyen 
stated that she may want to add some goose neck lighting in the future.   
 With no further discussion, D. Farthing moved to grant approval of a 16 square foot sign for 
Glo Salon & Spa as presented and an additional sign no larger than 16 square foot in size identical to 
the one presented to be placed on the west side of the building.  S. Richardson seconded the motion 
and the motion passed with ayes from all.   
 
9.  CyclePath – 79 Main Street: 
 Michael Duke appeared before the Board for a sign at 79 Main Street to be placed on the south 
side of the building (Center Street side).  It was noted that Mr. Duke is requesting a 24 square foot 
sign when he is only allowed 13 square feet.  A mural is also being proposed for this side of the 
building, but it was noted that the mural would just be painted on the building therefore, was not 
considered signage.  The sign on the front of the business is affixed to the inside of the window, 
therefore did not need a permit.  The Board agreed that the design of the sign and the square footage 
of the sign is appropriate for the south side of the building especially in relationship to the proposed 
mural, but cannot approve the sign because it does not meeting the Code.  The Board asked if the sign 
is carved.  Mr. Duke stated that it was a carved sign that would hang from a bar.  He is looking to get 
approval of a sign as soon as possible as a financing company that will allow him to offer his 
customers financing options will not approve this until he has a permanent sign.   



4 
 

 With no further discussion, M. Griffo moved to send the Zoning Board of Appeals a positive 
recommendation regarding the size and design of the CyclePath sign as presented to the Board.   
S. Richardson seconded the motion and the motion passed with ayes from all.   
 
10.  Meeting Closed: 
 S. Richardson moved to close the meeting at 5:50pm.  D. Farthing seconded the motion and 
the motion passed with ayes from all. 
 
Aprile S. Mack, Secretary 
 


